ימס	71		\cap	1
34	/ 1	. D	U	Т

 \mathbf{S}

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LARRY QUISHENBERRY Appellant

v.

UNITED HEALTHCARE, INC., et al. Respondents

Review of an Unpublished Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, Case No. B303451, Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC631077

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Balisok & Associates, Inc. Russell S. Balisok, (SBN 65116) balisok@stopelderabuse.org 330 No. Brand Blvd., Suite 702 Glendale, CA 91203 (818) 389-7890

Attorneys for Appellant and Petitioner Larry Quishenberry

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED ENTITIES (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.208)

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether any of the claims asserted by Plaintiff are *expressly* preempted by Medicare's Preemption Provision at 42 USC §1395w-26(b)(3)?
- 2. Whether any of the claims asserted by Plaintiff are *impliedly* preempted as conflicting with, or obstructing federal law?
- 3. Whether Health & Safety Code §1371.25, which generally prohibits vicarious liability for managed care entities, is *expressly* preempted when applied to Medicare Managed Care Organizations such as the Respondents?
- 4. Whether *Winn v. Pioneer Medical Group* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 148, precludes application of common law principles, including vicarious liability, in cases of neglect based on the Elder Abuse Act?

INTRODUCTION

In 2003, Congress enacted the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (MMA). (Pub.L. No. 108–173 (Dec. 8, 2003) 117 Stat. 2066.). The MMA amended section 1395w–26(b)(3) by replacing the prior limited preemption provision with the current broader provision:

The standards established under this part shall supersede any State law or regulation (other than State licensing laws or State laws relating to plan solvency) with respect to MA plans which are offered by MA organizations under this part." (emphasis added.)

(This subsection is referred to as the Medicare Preemption Provision).

This Petition is mainly concerned with the meaning of this provision and its application to Quishenberry's claims which are based on common law and on the Elder Abuse Act (Welf. & Inst. Code §15657), a statute of general applicability.

The scope of the Medicare Preemption Provision: A Split of Authority

A split of authority exists among California Courts regarding the scope of this Medicare Preemption Provision. In *Cotton v. StarCare Medical Group, Inc.* (2010) 183 Cal. App. 4th 437, the court generally held that the Medicare Preemption Provision did not expressly preempt most of plaintiff's state

common law claims against Medicare Advantage Organizations (MAO). Although a dispute exists with respect to which of the United Healthcare entities and HealthCare Partners are MAOs, this section assumes that Respondents are correct, and that each qualifies as such.

However, in *Roberts v. United Healthcare Services, Inc.* (2016) 2 Cal. App. 5th 132, the court disagreed with *Cotton* and explained that the Medicare Preemption Provision expressly preempted all state law claims including claims based on common law. This holding applies wherever federal standards exist. For example, where federal standards exist pertaining to HMO marketing materials, any claim pertaining to marketing materials is expressly preempted. Or where federal standards exist pertaining to the Medicare benefit covering skilled nursing facility care, an action claiming that a patient was prematurely discharged from a nursing home would be expressly preempted.

In addition, *Roberts* found obstacle preemption of the plaintiff's claims based on United Healthcare's false marketing materials.

Quishenberry contends that the Medicare Preemption Provision only expressly preempts positive laws aimed specifically at HMOs. Quishenberry further contends that unless his claims are in conflict with federal standards, or stand as an obstacle to a federal objective, his claims are not impliedly (ore expressly) preempted. See *Riegel v. Medtronic* (2008) 552 U.S. 312, 330 (state laws are preempted only to the extent they are

different from or in addition to the requirements imposed by federal law).

The Appellate Court's finding of obstacle preemption is simply erroneous. Quishenberry contends that neither application of his common law claims, nor application of the Elder Abuse Act, creates a conflict with or stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of any federal objective.

As for Health & Safety Code §1371.25 applying the plain language of the Medicare Preemption Provision, section 1371.25 is a state law aimed at HMOs. Therefore it is a state law "with respect" to an HMO including Medicare Advantage Organizations and expressly preempted by the Medicare Preemption Provision.

Martin v. PacifiCare of California (2011) 198 Cal. App. 4th 1390 found the previous version of the Medicare Preemption Provision did not require preemption of section 1371.25, and explicitly failed to reach the question whether the current Medicare Preemption Provision would have preempted 1371.25. Martin at 1410-1411.

Finally, in *Winn v. Pioneer Medical Group* (2016) 63
Cal.4th 148 this Court held that liability for neglect (Welf. & Inst. Code §15610.57) under the Elder Abuse Act required significant responsibility for attending to an elder's basic needs and that a physician who treated a patient sporadically at an outpatient clinic did not have the "care or custody" required for "neglect." *Winn* did not decide whether vicarious liability may exist for the conduct of a defendant who did have "care or custody."

Quishenberry contends that since the Elder Abuse Act does not expressly provide that common law principles, including vicarious liability principles, do not apply, under established case law, a defendant could be held vicariously liable for another defendant's neglect. *California Association of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297, citing *Goodman v. Zimmerman* (1994) 25 Cal. App. 4th 1667.

BACKGROUND

Larry Quishenberry's father Eugene enrolled in a Medicare health plan offered by United Healthcare, Inc., United Health Group, Inc., United Healthcare Services, Inc., and or UHC of California. As alleged it is unclear from the Evidence of Coverage document issued to Eugene which of these United Healthcare entities became obligated to provide healthcare to Eugene. One of these United Healthcare entities contracted with defendant Health Care Partners Medical Group and Healthcare Partners LLC to provide medical care, including care in hospitals, nursing facilities and physician care. Defendant Dr. Lee was employed by one of the Healthcare Partners entities to provide physician care to Eugene.

Larry's complaint alleged that Eugene was initially hospitalized for treatment of a broken femur, and then discharged to Defendant Gem HealthCare, LLC's (GEM) skilled nursing facility, under the care of Defendant Dr. Lee. Larry settled with GEM.

Larry alleged that GEM and Dr. Lee were negligent in providing care and as a result Eugene developed severe pressure sores on his feet. See 22 Cal. Code Regs. §72315(f). These pressure sores were painful and made it difficult for Eugene to participate in physical therapy and he never regained the ability to walk. He was discharged from the nursing home to his residence, where he ultimately but prematurely passed away.

Larry's complaint alleged that each of the United Healthcare Defendants and Healthcare Partners were, as delegors, vicariously liable for the negligence of GEM and Dr. Lee. In addition, Larry alleged that these defendants were directly liable under the special relationship doctrine. In addition, Larry alleged that GEM and Dr. Lee had committed Elder Abuse and that United Healthcare and Healthcare Partners were vicariously liable for these defendants' elder abuse.

In addition to these claims on behalf of Eugene, Larry stated his own wrongful death claims, based on the same theories asserted on behalf of Eugene.

The trial court sustained Defendants' demurrers which asserted that Larry's claims were preempted and that Health & Safety Code §1371.25 barred liability. The trial court dismissed Larry's action against the United Healthcare Defendants and Healthcare Partners.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

1. THE MEDICARE PREEMPTION PROVISION ON ITS FACE ONLY EXPRESSLY PREEMPTS STATE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS AIMED AT, OR DESIGNED TO REGULATE, HMOS

"[E]xpress preemption arises when Congress "define[s] explicitly the extent to which its enactments pre-empt state law." Parks v. MBNA America Bank, N.A. (2012) 54 Cal.4th 376, 383. Consideration of issues arising from the Supremacy Clause starts with the assumption that the historic police powers of the States are not to be superseded unless that is the clear and manifest purpose of Congress. Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc. (1992) 505 U.S. 504, 516.

Preemption of State law requires the courts "in the first instance [to] focus on the plain wording of the clause, which necessarily contains the best evidence of Congress' pre-emptive intent." *CSX Trans. Inc. v. Easterwood* (1993) 507 U.S. 658, 664. The court may find preemption only where it is the clear and manifest purpose of Congress. *Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp.* (1947) 331 U.S. 218, 230.

To recall, the preemption provision states:

The standards established under this part shall supersede *any State law or regulation* (other than State licensing laws or State laws relating to plan solvency) with respect to MA plans which are offered

by MA organizations under this part. (emphasis added.)

The phrase "standards established under this part" refers to regulatory standards adopted by the regulatory agency. The phrase, "State law or regulation . . . with respect to MA plans" effectively means state laws directed at any HMO plan, not just Medicare plans. In California, State laws with respect to HMOs would include provisions of the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Health & Safety Code §§1340, et seq.) which expresses California's law licensing and regulating HMOs.

Quishenberry recognizes that the analysis in *Do Sung Uhm* v. *Humana* (9th cir. 2010) 620 F.3d 1134 (*Uhm*) suggests that in order to be expressly preempted, a state law must be in conflict with federal law. This finding should be limited to the facts in *Uhm* because conflict pertains to implied preemption, not express preemption. The state laws examined by *Uhm* were statutory consumer protection laws which apply generally, i.e., are not aimed at HMOs, and state common law. But state statutes and regulations specifically aimed at HMOs, including Medicare financed HMO plans, appear to be expressly preempted, i.e., whether or not they conflict with federal law. That is the plain meaning of the Medicare Preemption Provision.

On the face of the Medicare Preemption Provision, common law claims would not be preempted because they do not apply specifically to HMOs. The same conclusion applies to statutes of general applicability, such as California's Elder Abuse Act. This narrower scope of the Medicare Preemption Provision, as discerned from the plain meaning of the provision, is the best evidence of "the clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Parks, supra.*

In adhering to *Roberts*, the Court of Appeal based its finding of express preemption merely on the existence of relevant standards established for Medicare Advantage plans. Opinion, p. 12. At p. 15, the Court of Appeal concluded Quishenberry's action "require[s] a determination of the amount of allowable Medicare benefits for skilled nursing care, an area regulated by standards established by CMS; this Quishenberry's claims are [expressly] preempted."

Even if was true that Quishenberry's action required a determination of the amount of allowable Medicare benefits for skilled nursing care, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that this action is expressly preempted is unsupportable. And, as will be explained there is no conflict or obstacle preemption because Quishenberry's action neither conflicts with, nor stands as an obstacle. In other words, except for state laws directed at HMOs, such as the Knox-Keene Act (Health & Safety Code §1340, et seq.) no state laws are expressly preempted, or at the very least, as explained in *Uhm* there must be a finding of conflict.

Roberts v. United Healthcare, etc. (2016) 2 Cal. App. 5th 132 was relied upon by the Court of Appeal but reading Roberts carefully, the plaintiff's action, like the plaintiffs in Uhm was premised on allegedly false marketing materials. Uhm explained:

To recall, the Uhms' consumer protection act claims allege that Humana violated the consumer protection statutes of various states in which
Humana operates by "systematically represent[ing] ...
that prescription drug coverage would begin January
1, 2006 for those Class members who enrolled by
December 31, 2005, when in fact [Humana] knew, or
should have known, that Defendants would not be
providing prescription drug coverage" beginning on
that date. According to the Uhms' complaint, these
misrepresentations were both written and oral:
written in the Humana Prescription Drug Plan
Enrollment Form and orally stated by Humana's
employees in the course of marketing the plan. We
hold that the Uhms' claims are preempted by the
extensive CMS regulations governing PDP marketing
materials.

The Act provides that CMS must approve all PDP marketing materials before they are made available to Medicare beneficiaries. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395w–101(b)(1)(B)(vi) (incorporating id. § 1395w–21(h)). The Act requires that each Part D sponsor "shall conform to fair marketing standards," id. *1151 § 1395w–21(h)(4), and that CMS "shall disapprove (or later require the correction of) such material or form if the material or form is materially inaccurate or misleading or otherwise makes a material misrepresentation," id. § 1395w–21(h)(2). In 2005, CMS promulgated detailed regulations governing

how Part D sponsors market their plans. See 42 C.F.R. § 423.50(a)–(f) (2005).26 Under those regulations, Part D sponsors were not to "distribute any marketing materials ... or enrollment forms, or make such materials or forms available to Part D eligible individuals" unless they had been CMSapproved. Id. § 423.50(a)(1).27 Moreover, under both the 2005 version of these provisions and their most recent amendment in 2008, CMS is required to screen marketing materials or enrollment forms to ensure they are not "materially inaccurate or misleading" and do not "otherwise make material misrepresentations." Id. § 423.50(d)(4) (redesignated as id. § 423.2264(d) (2008)). CMS must also ensure that all marketing materials and enrollment forms provide adequate descriptions of all rules, an explanation of the grievance and appeals process, and "[a]ny other information necessary to enable beneficiaries to make an informed decision about enrollment." Id. § 423.50(d)(1) (redesignated as id. § 423.2264(a) (2008)).

Uhm at 1134, 1150-51 further explained:

Any court attempting to evaluate a claim based on that statute must determine whether the particular action in question is "[d]eceptive." To do so, the court must determine whether "the defendant made misrepresentations or omissions that were likely to mislead a reasonable consumer in the plaintiff's circumstances ... and that as a result the plaintiff suffered injury." Solomon v. Bell Atl. Corp., 9 A.D.3d 49, 777 N.Y.S.2d 50, 52 (2004). Yet, under the Act, CMS is charged with reviewing marketing materials and determining whether they are "materially inaccurate or misleading or otherwise make[] a material misrepresentation." 42 U.S.C. § 1395w—21(h)(2). If the materials are misleading, CMS is instructed to disapprove them or later require their correction. Id.

Thus, allowing a suit to proceed based on a state statute such as New York's consumer protection law risks the possibility that materials CMS has deemed not misleading—and therefore allowed to be distributed—will later be determined "likely to mislead" by a state court. In other words, application of these state laws could potentially undermine the Act's standards as to what constitutes nonmisleading marketing.[fn] That is precisely the situation that both the current version of the Act's preemption provision as well as its previous incarnations contemplated and sought to avoid. * * * Because the reach of the 2003 provision is at least as broad as that of the 2000 version, it follows that state causes of action inconsistent with the CMS's role in reviewing and approving marketing materials

distributed by Part D sponsors are preempted. (emphasis added.) *Uhm* at 1152–53. (emphasis added.)

Roberts as well as the Court of Appeal opinion in this case ignored *Uhm's* stated requirement that the state cause of action be inconsistent with federal law, and broadly found preemption based on the mere existence of federal standards. Doing so also completely ignores the provision's "with respect to" language. And *Roberts* too broadly applies *Uhm's* ruling re federal standards pertaining to false marketing materials to claims touching on other federal standards.

As noted by the Court of Appeal, federal standards applicable to Quishenberry's claims include federal approval of the network of providers, for provider selection and credentialing, requirements for an ongoing quality improvement plan, and a requirement that the plan must correct all problems that come to its attention through internal surveillance, complaint or otherwise. There is also a requirement that the MA organization consult with physicians who provide services under the MA plan regarding the organization's medical policy, quality improvement programs and medical management procedures and ensure the physicians' decisions with respect to utilization management, enrollee education, coverage of services and other areas are consistent with guidelines. Opinion, at p. 13. Other federal standards are discussed. Ultimately, the Court of Appeal found that Quishenberry's claims touched on existing federal standards: Quishenberry's claims "require a determination of the amount of

allowable Medicare benefits for skilled nursing care, an area regulated by standards established by CMS; thus Quishenberry's claims are preempted."

There are likewise several flaws in the Court of Appeal's analysis of the preemption claim. First, Quishenberry's claims include the claim that his premature discharge was not medically appropriate. This claim stands wholly apart from any standard established by the federal government for the operation of HMO plans. And this claim stands wholly apart and distinct from, or at most only incidentally related to, any analysis of how many days Quishenberry was entitled to under Medicare. See 42 USC §3295 ("Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to authorize any Federal officer or employee to exercise any supervision or control over the practice of medicine or the manner in which medical services are provided, or over the selection, tenure, or compensation of any officer or employee of any institution, agency, or person providing health services; or to exercise any supervision or control over the administration or operation of any such institution, agency, or person.")

Second, even if Quishenberry's only claim was that he was denied the full benefit of 100 days in skilled nursing facility care, the only issues are medical issues, i.e., whether conditions existed which qualified Eugene to receive skilled nursing care. His medical condition is the only matter in controversy because his entitlement to further skilled nursing facility care is clearly defined in the federal standards on which the Court of Appeal in part relied. Therefore even in this instance, Quishenberry's claim

is only incidentally related to a federal standard. Quoting from the Court of Appeal Opinion:

To receive coverage, "the beneficiary must (1) require skilled nursing or rehabilitative services, (2) on a daily basis, (3) the services must be furnished for a condition for which the beneficiary received inpatient services, for a condition which arose while the beneficiary was receiving care in an SNF [skilled] nursing facility for a condition for which the beneficiary was hospitalized, or, for MA beneficiaries whose plans waive the 3 day hospital stay requirement, for a condition for which a physician has determined that direct admission to an SNF was medically appropriate without a prior hospital stay, and (4) the services must be such that as a practical matter they can only be provided at an SNF on an inpatient basis." (United HealthCare Ins. Co. v. Sebelius (D. Minn. 2011) 774 F.Supp.2d 1014, 1019, citing 42 C.F.R. § 409.31.) (emphasis added.) Opinion, at p. 14.

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