Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 11/15/2021 by Regine Ho, Deputy Clerk

S271501 Case No. B303451 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC631077

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LARRY QUISHENBERRY Plaintiff and Appellant

vs.

UNITED HEALTH CARE, INC., UNITED HEALTH GROUP, INC., UNITED HEALTH CARE – CALIFORNIA, UHC – CALIFORNIA, UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE, INC., UNITED HEALTHCARE SERVICES, INC., HEALTHCARE PARTNERS AFFILIATES MEDICAL GROUP, AND HEALTHCARE PARTNERS MEDICAL GROUP Defendants and Respondents.

#### INTRODUCTION

Defendants and Respondents UnitedHealthcare, Inc. (incorrectly identified in the SAC as both "United Health Care, Inc." and "United Healthcare Insurance, Inc."), UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, UnitedHealthcare Services, Inc., and UHC of California (incorrectly identified in the SAC as "United Healthcare – California, Inc.," and "UHC-California, Inc.") (collectively "United" or "Respondents") hereby submit this brief in response to Plaintiff and Appellant Larry Quishenberry's ("Appellant") Petition for Review. Because Appellant has not shown that this matter necessitates Supreme Court review under Rule 8.500(b), United respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition.

This matter involves Appellant's repeated, unsuccessful attempts to bring state-law causes of action for negligence and vicarious liability against a Medicare HMO, despite those causes of action being expressly and impliedly preempted by the federal Medicare Act as well as prohibited by California state law. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal correctly held that all of Appellant's causes of action against United were preempted by the federal Medicare Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-26(b)(3), and should be dismissed with prejudice. Under governing case law in the Second District, where this matter was commenced, common-law claims such as those Appellant has brought here, which would impose liability on Medicare Advantage organizations for failure to follow common-law standards of care, are both expressly and impliedly preempted by the Medicare Act. *See Roberts v. United Healthcare Services, Inc.*, 2 Cal. App. 5th 132, 148 (2d Dist. 2016). Because the Court of Appeal's opinion is consistent with established law and does not raise any novel issues

necessitating resolution by the Supreme Court, Respondents respectfully request that this Court deny the Petition for Review.

#### BACKGROUND

Appellant filed the original Complaint in this matter on August 19, 2016, as successor-in-interest to his father, Eugene Quishenberry. (Court of Appeal Opinion ("Opn.") at 3.) The gravamen of Appellant's complaint was that Defendants GEM Healthcare, LLC and Dr. Jae H. Lee failed to adequately treat Eugene and prematurely discharged him from a skilled nursing facility whereafter his health deteriorated and he later died. (*Id.*) Appellant sued GEM, Dr. Lee, Defendant Healthcare Partners ("HCP"), which provided physician services to Eugene, and United, which administered a Medicare Advantage ("MA") Health Maintenance Organization ("HMO") plan of which Eugene was a member. (Id. at 2.) After the trial court sustained United's and HCP's demurrers to the First Amended Complaint ("FAC") on the grounds that all of Appellant's causes of action were barred by the Knox-Keene Act, Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1371.25, and preempted by the Medicare Act, Appellant filed the Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"). (Id. at 3.) He alleged causes of action for negligence, elder abuse, bad faith, and wrongful death. (*Id.*) As to United, Appellant alleged that United delegated to HCP its responsibility to provide health care benefits and administrative protections owed to MA enrollees by contracting with HCP to provide physician services to the plan's enrollees. (Id. at 3-4.) United allegedly delegated to GEM, the operator of a skilled nursing facility where Eugene was housed, its responsibility to provide custodial care and administrative protections to plan enrollees. (Id. at 4.)

The SAC did not allege that any of the United Defendants actually provided medical care to Eugene. (*See id.* at 5-6.) Instead, it alleged that the United Defendants "ultimately delegated certain of their responsibilities to provide administrative protections and also health care benefits including custodial care, to their co-defendants, and to GEM." (*See id.* at 3-4.) In sum, the gravamen of Appellant's claims against the United Defendants has consistently remained that, as administrators of Eugene's Medicare Advantage ("MA") health plan, they had the duty to monitor and ensure the quality of care Eugene received from contracted providers such as GEM; in allegedly failing to monitor the quality of Eugene's care, the United Defendants are vicariously liable for harm caused by GEM's and Dr. Lee's allegedly substandard care. (*See id.* at 4-6.)

On October 25, 2019, after hearing oral arguments from all parties, the Superior Court sustained United's demurrer to the SAC, as well as a concurrently filed demurrer by Healthcare Partners, and dismissed all claims in the SAC as to United and Healthcare Partners without leave to amend. (*Id.* at 8.) Relying on *Roberts v. United Healthcare Services, Inc.* 2 Cal. App. 5th 132 (2016), the trial court found Appellant's causes of action against the UnitedHealthcare entities and Healthcare Partners were preempted by the Medicare Act because the allegations involved defendants' "failure to administer properly the health care plan." (*Id.* at 8.) In addition, the claims against the UnitedHealthcare entities were "barred by Health & Safety Code section 1371.25 which provides that a healthcare service plan is not vicariously liable for acts or omissions of the actual health care services providers." (*Id.*) The trial court entered judgment in favor of HCP on December 3, 2019, and a judgment in favor of the United Defendants on December 6, 2019. (*Id.*) Appellant appealed.

#### THE COURT OF APPEAL'S RULING

On September 21, 2021, after considering briefing and oral argument from all parties, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, issued an unpublished decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of the SAC with prejudice on the grounds that all of Appellant's claims were preempted by the Medicare Act. (Opn. at 12.) Specifically, the Court of Appeal held that Appellant's claims were both expressly and impliedly preempted, consistent with the holdings of *Roberts v. United Healthcare Services, Inc.*, 2 Cal. App. 5th 132, 148 (2d Dist. 2016) and *Yarick v. PacifiCare of California*, 179 Cal. App. 4th 1158 (2009). (*Id.*) It therefore affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the SAC with prejudice on the grounds of Medicare preemption. (*Id.* at 24.)

In analyzing the preemption issue, the Court of Appeal first examined the text of the Medicare Act's preemption provision as it was amended in 2003, which reads: "The standards established under this part shall supersede any State law or regulation (other than State licensing laws or State laws relating to plan solvency) with respect to MA plans which are offered by MA organizations under this part." 2021 WL 4272048, at \*5 (citing (Pub. L. No. 108-173, § 232 (Dec. 8, 2003) 117 Stat. 2066; 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-26(b)(3).) The Court noted that the 2003 amendment significantly expanded the breadth of the preemption language, which "plainly spells out Congress's intent that the standards governing Medicare Advantage plans will displace '*any* State law or regulation' except for State laws regarding licensing or plan solvency." *Id.* at \*7 (quoting *Roberts*, 2 Cal. App. 5th at 143 (emphasis in original)).

Having noted the breadth of the preemption language, the Court of Appeal then examined the wide range of Medicare regulations that were

implicated by Appellant's state law claims. Id. at \*5-6. Those regulations "include CMS's approval of the network of MA providers 'to ensure that all applicable requirements are met, including access and availability, service area, and quality," id. (quoting 42 C.F.R. § 422.4(a)(1)(i)); "standards governing provider 'selection and credentialing' for MA plans," id. (quoting 42 C.F.R. § 422.204); "requirements relating to 'an ongoing quality improvement program' for each MA plan," id. (quoting 42 C.F.R. § 422.152(a)); and "the requirement that '[f]or each plan, the organization must correct all problems that come to its attention through internal surveillance, complaints, or other mechanisms," id. (quoting 42 C.F.R. § 422.152(f)(3) (alteration in original)). The Court further noted that "[i]n addition, the MA organization must consult with physicians who provide services under the MA plan regarding the MA organization's 'medical policy, quality improvement programs and medical management procedures' and ensure the physicians' '[d]ecisions with respect to utilization management, enrollee education, coverage of services, and other areas in which the guidelines apply are consistent with the guidelines." *Id.* (quoting 42 C.F.R. § 422.202(b)(3) (alterations in original)). Finally, the Court noted that Medicare regulations also govern a MA organization's provision of covered services and coverage determinations. Id.

Given the wide range of Medicare regulations touching upon everything from provision of services to coverage determinations to quality assurance, as well as the Congressional intent behind expanding the scope of the preemption clause, the Court determined that Appellant's state-law claims were expressly preempted. *Id.* at \*5-6 ("Quishenberry's negligence, elder abuse, and wrongful death causes of action are based on California law in an area in which Medicare Part C regulations have established

standards for MA plans."). The Court noted that its decision was "consistent with the holdings by the courts that have broadly construed the Medicare Part C preemption clause." Id. at \*7 (citing Roberts, 2 Cal. App. 5th at 138, 143; Uhm v. Humana, Inc., 620 F.3d 1134, 1148-1153 (9th Cir. 2010); and Morrison v. Health Plan of Nev., Inc., 130 Nev. 517, 523 (Nev. 2014)). The Court distinguished its holding with respect to express preemption from two other decisions that more narrowly construed the Medicare Part C preemption clause, *Cotton v. StarCare Medical Group*, 183 Cal. App. 4th 437, 450-451 (2010) (Fourth District, Division 3), and Yarick, 179 Cal. App. 4th at 1165 (Fifth District). The Court explained why the express preemption analysis in those decisions, rendered more than a decade earlier, was not consistent with current U.S. Supreme Court case law and not consistent with the Congressional intent of the preemption clause as discussed more recently in Roberts. See id. at \*9. However, the Court did follow *Yarick* in holding that "[e]ven if express preemption did not apply, Quishenberry's claims would be barred by implied preemption based on the doctrine of 'obstacle preemption' because his state law claims would stand as an obstacle to the full accomplishment and execution of congressional objectives." Id. at \*7 n. 11 (internal quotation marks, citations, and alterations omitted). As the Court noted, even though *Yarick* declined to find that the claims in that case were expressly preempted by Medicare, it held that they were *impliedly* preempted, reasoning that "[i]f state common law judgments were permitted to impose damages on the basis of these federally approved contracts and quality assurance programs, the federal authorities would lose control of the regulatory authority that is at the very core of Medicare generally and the MA program specifically." Id. (quoting Yarick, 179 Cal. App. 4th at 1167-68).

Because the Court held that Appellant's claims were both expressly and impliedly preempted by the Medicare Act and therefore properly dismissed with prejudice by the trial court, it declined to reach the issue of whether those claims were also barred by Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1371.25, and whether Appellant's state-law claims were sufficiently pled. *Id.* at \*9, n.12.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing an order sustaining a demurrer, the appellate court "examine[s] the operative complaint de novo to determine whether it alleges facts sufficient to state a cause of action under any legal theory." *Mathews v. Becerra*, 8 Cal. 5th 756, 768 (2019). The Court "treat[s] the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded, but not contentions, deductions or conclusions of fact or law." *Id.* The Court may "also consider matters which may be judicially noticed" and must "give the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context." *Id.* 

"A judgment of dismissal after a demurrer has been sustained without leave to amend will be affirmed if proper on any grounds stated in the demurrer, whether or not the court acted on that ground." *Id.*; *see also Aubry v. Tri-City Hosp. Dist.*, 2 Cal. 4th 962, 967 (1992) (judgment must be affirmed "if any one of the several grounds of demurrer is well taken"). "While the decision to sustain or overrule a demurrer is a legal ruling subject to de novo review on appeal, the granting of leave to amend involves an exercise of the trial court's discretion." *Lazar v. Hertz Corp.*, 69 Cal. App. 4th 1494, 1501 (1999). Thus, the appellate court reviews a decision denying leave to amend for an abuse of discretion. Cal. Code Civ.

Proc. § 472c(a); *Rosen v. St. Joseph Hosp. of Orange Cnty.*, 193 Cal. App. 4th 453, 458 (2011).

### LEGAL DISCUSSION

#### I. THERE IS NO NEED FOR REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING AUTHORITY

Review of appellate court decisions by the Supreme Court is limited. This Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision:

(1) When necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law;

(2) When the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction;

(3) When the Court of Appeal decision lacked the concurrence of sufficient qualified justices; or

(4) For the purpose of transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal for such proceedings as the Supreme Court may order.

Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b); *see also People v. Davis*, 147 Cal. 346, 348 (1905) (Supreme Court's limited role is to "secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions [of the appellate courts], their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the state, a correct and uniform construction of the constitution, statutes, and charters, and, in some instances, a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law").

"The District Courts of Appeal are established for the purpose of ascertaining and enforcing according to the rules of law the particular right of each case committed to their arbitrament." *People v. Groves*, 9 Cal. App. 2d 317, 322 (1935). "There is no abstract or inherent right in every citizen to take every case to the highest court." *Id.* Rehearing in the Supreme Court "is granted only when error appears upon the face of the opinion of the appellate court, or when a doubtful and important question is presented [on the face of the opinion] upon which [the Supreme Court] desire[s] to hear further argument." *Burke v. Maze*, 10 Cal. App. 206 (1909) (order of Supreme Court denying transfer).

Appellant's Petition for Review does not satisfy any of the bases for Supreme Court review enumerated in Rule 8.500(b). The Court of Appeal's decision did not deviate from established authority nor does it present a "doubtful or disputed question of law." The Court of Appeal's decision simply followed the well-reasoned analysis set forth in *Roberts* as well as that of the Ninth Circuit in *Uhm* and applied that analysis to this case. (*See* Opn. at 21-23.) Although the Court of Appeal declined to follow the narrower preemption analysis set forth by the Fourth and Fifth Districts in *Cotton* and *Yarick* in 2010 and 2009, respectively, its decision to distinguish those cases from the instant case did not create the type of split of authority over an "important question of law" that would necessitate Supreme Court review. (*See id.*) *Roberts* has been the law of the Second District since 2016. The Court of Appeal in this case simply followed established precedent in rendering its decision.

Appellant does not even cite Rule 8.500 in 32 pages of briefing, let alone explain how that rule is satisfied in this case. (*See generally* Petition for Review.) He simply reargues the merits of his case, setting forth arguments that both the Court of Appeal and the trial court properly rejected. Appellant may not seek Supreme Court review simply to gain an extra shot at arguing the merits. *See Groves*, 9 Cal. App. 2d at 322. He must make a showing that Supreme Court review is necessary based on one of the four enumerated circumstances in Rule 8.500(b). He has not done so, and the Petition for Review should therefore be denied.

#### II. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT APPELLANT'S STATE-LAW CLAIMS ARE PREEMPTED BY THE MEDICARE ACT

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